
Page 1 of 12 
 

Town of Chester 1 

Zoning Board of Adjustment 2 

February 18, 2020 3 

Town Hall 4 

7:00 pm 5 

Approved Minutes 6 

Members Present: 7 

Chair Billie Maloney 8 
Vice-Chair Kevin Scott 9 
Jack Cannon 10 
William Gregsak 11 
Richard Snyder, Alternate 12 
 13 

Members Absent: 14 

Adam Maciaszczyk, Alternate 15 
 16 

Guests: 17 

Andrew Hadik 18 
Bill Rohr 19 
Alisha Eckman 20 
Eric Mitchell 21 
Tony Massahos 22 
Jennifer Morin 23 
Attorney John Cronin 24 
Mr. and Mrs. Bachelor 25 
Joe Maynard, Benchmark Engineering 26 
Elizabeth Buchanan Blanchard 27 
Eugene Blanchard 28 
James Lavelle 29 
Jason Boucher 30 
Dick Trask 31 
Michelle Trask 32 
 33 
And other persons unknown to the minute taker 34 
 35 

Agenda 36 

1. Call to Order/Roll Call 37 
2. Correspondence 38 
3. Approve Minutes for November 19, 2019 and October 18, 2019 39 
4. Updates – Budget Sheets & Zoning Amendments 40 
5. Training:  26th Annual Spring Planning & Zoning Conference 5/30/20 41 
6. Hearings: 42 



Page 2 of 12 
 

1.  The request of James M. Lavelle on behalf of Jason D. Boucher 43 
For a Variance 44 
From Article 5, Section 5.3.5 Table 1 (Table of Dimensional Requirements) 45 
To permit the creation of a lot with 100’ of frontage on a Class V road where 290’ are 46 
required 47 
 48 
On the property known as Map/Lot 002-017-000, 7 East Derry Road in the R1 Zone. 49 
 50 
2.  The request of Benchmark Engineering, Inc. on behalf of Jennifer Morin d/b/a Kerry’s 51 
Dance Center 52 
For a Variance 53 
From Article 5, Section 5.3.4 prohibited uses in the R-1 zone 54 
To permit the operation of a dance, yoga studio 55 
 56 
On the property known as Map/Lot 006-014-000, 8 Deerwood Hollow in the R1 Zone. 57 
 58 
3.  The request of Alisha Eckman 59 
For a Variance 60 
From Article 5, Section 5.3.4 prohibited uses in the R-1 zone 61 
To permit the operation of art classes and such other adult education as the Board may 62 
deem appropriate at Nutting Hall 63 
 64 
On the property known as Map 005-014-000, 66 Chester Street in the R1 Zone 65 
 66 
4.  The request of 21st Century Development, Inc. 67 
For Variances from Article 5, Section 3.5, 5.3.3 10F-G of the Ordinance to permit a common 68 
driveway to be within the side yard setback for each proposed lot, and for less than 100’ 69 
of landscape buffer and infrastructure, Article 4.5.1.1 for number of parking spaces and 70 
from Article 4, Section 4.2.1 of the Ordinance to permit a single sign no greater than 30 71 
square feet 72 
 73 
On the property known as Map 002-070, 236 Haverhill Road in the R1 Zone 74 
 75 
5.  The request of 21st Century Development, Inc. 76 
For a Special Exception in accordance with Article 5, Section 3.3.10 of the Ordinance to 77 
permit an Assisted Living Residence 78 
 79 
On the property known as Map 002-070, 236 Haverhill Road in the R1 Zone 80 
 81 
6.  The request of Elizabeth B. Blanchard a/k/a Buchanan & Eugene L. Blanchard 82 
For a Variance from Article 5, Section 5.7, Subsection 5.7.8 Table 2 of the Ordinance 83 
to create a driveway less than 75’ setback from the edge of wetlands 84 
 85 
On the property known as Map 002-063-001, 43 Hart Roberts Road in the R1 Zone 86 

 87 
7. Other Business 88 
8. Adjournment 89 

  90 



Page 3 of 12 
 

1.  Call to Order 91 

Chair Maloney called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm and indicated Alternate Rick Snyder 92 
would be an active voting member for this meeting.  By Roll Call were present: Rick Snyder, 93 
Kevin Scott, Billie Maloney, Bill Gregsak and Jack Cannon. 94 

Vice-Chair Scott read out loud the Public Hearing Notice as well as the 30-Day Notice regarding 95 
appeals. 96 

2.  Correspondence 97 

Ms. Hoijer indicated letters of support were received for Map 006-014, 005-014 and 002-063-98 
001. 99 

3.  Approval of Minutes 100 

Mr. Snyder motioned to approve the November 19, 2019 minutes.  Vice-Chair Scott 101 
seconded the motion, with all in favor, the motion passed unanimously. 102 

Vice-Chair Scott motioned to approve the workshop meeting minutes of October 18, 103 
2019.  Chair Maloney seconded the motion.  A vote was taken.  Mr. Cannon, Mr. Gregsak 104 
and Mr. Snyder abstained, so  moved. 105 

4.  Updates 106 

The Budget Sheet was provided for the month of January 2020. 107 

Review of the Zoning Amendments was tabled. 108 

5.  Training 109 

The Board discussed attendance for the 26th Annual Spring Planning & Zoning Conference on 110 
May 30, 2020.  Mr. Cannon indicated he would be unable to attend. 111 

6.  Hearings: 112 

Vice-Chair Scott read out loud the Public Hearing notice. 113 

1.  The request of James M. Lavelle on behalf of Jason D. Boucher 114 
For a Variance 115 
From Article 5, Section 5.3.5 Table 1 (Table of Dimensional Requirements) 116 
To permit the creation of a lot with 100’ of frontage on a Class V road where 290’ are required 117 
 118 
On the property known as Map/Lot 002-017-000, 7 East Derry Road in the R1 Zone. 119 
 120 
Chair Maloney indicated there were three denials issued by the Building Inspector. 121 
 122 
Mr. Lavelle noted the plan proposed two homes on 10 acres which would not be overcrowding.  123 
The impact would be the same.  The driveway will be centered on the new lot within the setbacks.  124 
The old driveway will be reclaimed.  There are a lot of wetlands on the property.  The proposed 125 
new home would be up the hill in the back on 5.13 acres and won’t be seen from the road.  The 126 
frontage for the new lot would be 100’ where 290’ are required.  Mr. Lavelle indicated many of the 127 
homes on East Derry Road have less than 290’ of frontage. 128 



Page 4 of 12 
 

Chair Maloney asked what were the special conditions that distinguish the property from others 129 
in the neighborhood and Mr. Lavelle stated many lots are smaller. 130 
 131 
Vice-Chair Scott asked to describe the use now, which is one residential home with two business 132 
listed at the address according to the internet, 1 hot air balloon business and a construction 133 
business AJB Construction.  Vice-Chair Scott asked if these businesses were permitted to be 134 
there?  Mr. Boucher indicated he parks his work truck there.  Vice-Chair Scott noted there was a 135 
Kubota tractor, several vehicles, a motor home and camper, a trailer and two temporary tarp 136 
buildings.  Vice-Chair Scott stated he felt two business and the parking lot with all those vehicles 137 
is a reasonable use of the property.   Mr. Lavelle disagreed that many vehicles were parked there 138 
and stated the Kubota was used to dig test pits.  There were two vehicles when he was there. 139 
 140 
Deborah Pike & Shirley Pike noted they were direct abutters and expressed concerns with the 141 
overcrowding and wetland impact.  Ms. Pike noted this would be inconsistent with how the houses 142 
are spaced.  Ms. Pike noted she has witnessed all of the vehicles Mr. Scott described and wonder 143 
where they will be when the lot is divided. 144 
 145 
Chair Maloney closed the hearing to the public for deliberations at 7:21 PM. 146 
 147 
Mr. Gregsak noted he had an issue with the two businesses if either or both were unlicensed.  148 
Chair Maloney asked Mr. Boucher if he had home occupancy permits for those business.  Mr. 149 
Boucher indicated he did not do business there.  The hot air balloon business operates out of 150 
Salem and the drywall business is conducted wherever the work is done.  There is no work being 151 
done there and no employees. 152 
 153 
Chair Maloney reclosed the hearing to the public for deliberations at 7:23 PM. 154 
 155 
Mr. Snyder noted the businesses were a code enforcement issue, he did not see the hardship; 156 
the lot is large but 100’ of frontage is not a lot.  Vice-Chair Scott noted there is already a lot going 157 
on on the parcel and he did not see the hardship.  The Board has seen requests for existing 158 
parcels with less than 290’ of frontage that can be satisfied but not ones that we are asked to 159 
create.  The driveway creates overcrowding, #1 and #3 there is already more than one use.  #5b 160 
not seeing a hardship as the lot is saturated as a parking lot. 161 
 162 
Chair Maloney agreed the house lot with two businesses exists and the applicant has failed to 163 
prove a hardship.  The lot size is not a strong enough argument. 164 
 165 
Mr. Cannon noted he agreed with Vice-Chair Scott concerning the frontage adding he did not 166 
believe it was within the spirit of the ordinance and there was no hardship. 167 
 168 
Mr. Gregsak noted he agreed with Vice-Chair Scott also concerning the hardship and not creating 169 
lots that were substandard. 170 
 171 
Chair Maloney agreed the applicant has not proven a hardship and a reasonable use exists as a 172 
house lot with two businesses. 173 
 174 
Vice-Chair Scott motioned to deny the request for a variance from Article 5.3.5 Table 1 to 175 
create a lot with 100’ of frontage on a Class VI road.  Mr. Snyder seconded the motion.  A 176 
vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed unanimously. 177 
 178 
Vice-Chair Scott read the 30-Day Notice of Appeal. 179 



Page 5 of 12 
 

 180 
2.  The request of Benchmark Engineering, Inc. on behalf of Jennifer Morin d/b/a Kerry’s Dance 181 
Center 182 
For a Variance 183 
From Article 5, Section 5.3.4 prohibited uses in the R-1 zone 184 
To permit the operation of a dance, yoga studio 185 
 186 
On the property known as Map/Lot 006-014-000, 8 Deerwood Hollow in the R1 Zone. 187 
 188 
Attorney John Cronin reviewed the history of the home, which was constructed by the former 189 
owner, Mr. Bachelor as a dance studio.  The Bachelors had a home occupation business as a 190 
dance studio.  When Ms. Morin bought the property, as a dance studio, she didn’t know that with 191 
more than four employees she would need to get a variance. 192 
 193 
Chair Maloney referenced a deed restriction on the homes in the development which limits the 194 
use to residential only.  Chair Maloney instructed the applicant that the Zoning Board of 195 
Adjustment can vary the ordinance but cannot vary that private deed restriction.  Attorney Cronin 196 
indicated he had obtained releases of the covenant from all but one owner who was on vacation 197 
and would clean that up at the Registry of Deeds. 198 
 199 
Attorney Cronin spoke to the value to the community of the dance center where many residents 200 
and their families got an educational experience.  In addition the lot is well buffered from other 201 
homes, there are no signs, it looks like a single-family home.  Attorney Cronin noted there would 202 
be no harm to the public.  The harm to the applicant if the variance were denied would be that 203 
she could no longer continue to operate the business with financial consequences. 204 
 205 
Attorney Cronin indicated the parcel was unique in two ways in that the home was designed and 206 
built as a dance studio and will not be able to be used as intended.  The location is on a main 207 
road with plenty of buffering.  Attorney Cronin noted the applicant may have to go to Site Plan 208 
Review with the Planning Board. 209 
 210 
Mr. Gregsak divulged that he went there when he was having back pain.  Chair Maloney noted 211 
she was also familiar with the business.  Vice-Chair Scott indicated he too was familiar with the 212 
business.  Mr. Snyder noted he was not familiar with the business but was impressed with the 213 
turnout of support this evening and the history.  Mr. Cannon noted his daughter went there for 214 
years. 215 
 216 
Mr. Gregsak noted he had no problem with the application.  Mr. Snyder and Mr. Cannon agreed. 217 
 218 
Chair Maloney questioned whether it would need Site Plan Review.  Mr. Snyder felt it might need 219 
a limited scope Site Plan Review and the hours of operation should be addressed.  Ms. Morin 220 
indicated there were some hours in the afternoon, mostly students took the bus afterschool, and 221 
classes for older students went until 8 PM at night. 222 
 223 
Ms. Hoijer indicated 14 letters of support were received with 28 or so signing the last letter. 224 
 225 
Chair Maloney noted it met all five criteria and is a reasonable use with no concerns and plenty 226 
of parking. 227 
 228 
Mr. Snyder motioned to grant the variance from Article 5.3.4 to permit a dance/yoga studio 229 
in the R1 zone adding that the Board did not support the requirement of Site Plan Review 230 



Page 6 of 12 
 

by the Planning Board.  Mr. Cannon seconded the motion.  A vote was taken, all were in 231 
favor, the motion passed unanimously. 232 
 233 
3.  The request of 21st Century Development, Inc. 234 
For Variances from Article 5, Section 3.5, 5.3.3 10F-G of the Ordinance to permit a common 235 
driveway to be within the side yard setback for each proposed lot, and for less than 100’ of 236 
landscape buffer and infrastructure, Article 4.5.1.1 for number of parking spaces and from Article 237 
4, Section 4.2.1 of the Ordinance to permit a single sign no greater than 30 square feet 238 
 239 
On the property known as Map 002-070, 236 Haverhill Road in the R1 Zone 240 
 241 
Eric Mitchell noted the requests for variances would be tabled. 242 
 243 
4.  The request of 21st Century Development, Inc. 244 
For a Special Exception  in accordance with Article 5, Section 3.3.10 of the Ordinance to permit 245 
an Assisted Living Residence 246 
 247 
On the property known as Map 002-070, 236 Haverhill Road in the R1 Zone 248 
 249 
Vice-Chair Scott read the Public Hearing Notice out loud. 250 
 251 
Mr. Gregsak recused himself and sat with the public. 252 
 253 
Chair Maloney noted there would only be four members to hear the request and gave the applicant 254 
the option to continue and hope for a full board.  Mr. Mitchell indicated he would like to get the 255 
discussion going and if he decided to wait for a full Board, he would make that decision prior to 256 
deliberations. 257 
 258 
Mr. Mitchell explained the applicant has requested a special exception with no impacts to the 100’ 259 
required buffer or 25’ buffer and no common driveway. 260 
 261 
Chair Maloney noted the Board had also received an application for administrative decision with 262 
regard to parking and signage.  Ms. Hoijer indicated if the applicant wished to proceed with that 263 
following site plan review with the Planning Board, it would need to be noticed as it was received 264 
just following last month’s hearing deadline. 265 
 266 
Vice-Chair Scott questioned what would happen if the DOT did not approve the curb cut of the 267 
newly proposed driveway?  Mr. Mitchell was confident there would not be a problem but noted he 268 
would address that at a later date if there was. 269 
 270 
The Board agreed to table the variances until after site plan review by the Planning Board. 271 
 272 
Mr. Mitchell explained the parent lot is 34 acres and 10 acres will be divided off.  The facility would 273 
be a 16 bed Assisted Living Facility leaving 24 acres with the existing house and barn. 274 
 275 
Mr. Mitchell explained the assisted living facility is now allowed by special exception.  The 276 
applicant was here last year with a different plan and the request for a variance was not granted.  277 
The ordinance was then approved last May by the voters at town meeting. 278 
 279 
Chair Maloney explained the difference between a variance and a special exception.  If the criteria 280 
are met, the use is allowed by special exception where a variance is for permission to do 281 



Page 7 of 12 
 

something that is not allowed.  Vice-Chair Scott added the variance requires the five points of law 282 
to be satisfied, the criteria for a special exception are different. 283 
 284 
Mr. Mitchell noted there would be three employees with one overnight.  Each room would have a 285 
single bed and bath, meals would be provided in the community dining room and prepared onsite.  286 
There is a community living room and weekly laundry service.  There is 24-hour supervision for 287 
personal care, not medical, although clients could get medical assistance offsite.  Final approval 288 
would be needed from the Planning Board. 289 
 290 
Chair Maloney read the requirements for special exception for an assisted living facility under 291 
Article 5.3.3.10 and asked the applicant if the premises would be used for any of the prohibited 292 
uses such as corrections, alcohol or substance abuse, hotel/motel, etc. and the applicant 293 
answered no.  Chair Maloney asked the applicant if the required ten acres were provided – yes.  294 
The maximum occupancy was 16 – yes.  Landscape buffers are 100’ – yes.   295 
 296 
Mr. Mitchell showed the design plans for a single-story facility which would be set 300’ off Haverhill 297 
Road with a 100’ setback and the driveway and parking shown on the plan.  Septic and drainage 298 
would be to the rear of the building.  There is an unfinished basement walk out to the rear not for 299 
occupancy by residents. 300 
 301 
Mr. Mitchell read out loud 11.4 Special Exception criteria and indicated it was not detrimental to 302 
the character of the neighborhood, the residents do not own cars.  It is not an apartment building.  303 
Mr. Massahos added there are administrative employees and cleaning staff which go between 304 
the facility at Beaver Lake.  There is no truck traffic.  Fire suppression is adequate.  There are call 305 
buttons for medical emergencies.  Licensing is required by the State and will be obtained.  There 306 
is no outside storage, parking is in front, lighting will be downcast.  Mr. Massahos noted he had a 307 
realtor’s opinion letter concerning values from Hathaway.  There are no dumpsters, trash is picked 308 
up once a week.  Utilities and generator are out of sight. 309 
 310 
Mr. Massahos spoke to the improvements he has made to the property since he purchased it, 311 
repairing stonewalls and landscaping.  There is no excessive demand to schools as there are no 312 
students.  There will be no runoff to adjacent properties and no soil or water pollution or danger 313 
of collapse. 314 
 315 
Vice-Chair Scott asked about laundry and other service and delivery vehicles.  Mr. Massahos 316 
indicated the cleaning was done by employees with the facility’s equipment.  A milk delivery 317 
service comes once a week.  The cook has been on staff for 17 years and does the grocery 318 
shopping. 319 
 320 
Chair Maloney opened the hearing to the public for comments and questions at 8:18 PM.   321 
 322 
Bill Gregsak, 243 Haverhill Road asked if the applicant was requesting any variances and Mr. 323 
Mitchell indicated just the special exception.  Mr. Gregsak expressed concerns with lighting as he 324 
is directly across the street and has issues with the lighting now which shines on part of his home.  325 
Mr. Gregsak asked if the living space above the barn was permitted?  Chair Maloney noted that 326 
would be a question for the code enforcement officer.  Mr. Snyder indicated site plan review would 327 
comprehensively address lighting and other issues. 328 
 329 
Sergio Rubio asked about the character of the neighborhood noting it was different than a 330 
residential area.  Chair Maloney indicated last May the Town voted to allow assisted living facilities 331 
in the R-1 zone. 332 



Page 8 of 12 
 

 333 
Mr. Snyder indicated the special exception does not limit to certain areas but does  allow them i 334 
specifically in R1.  Chair Maloney read out loud some of the other uses that are allowed by special 335 
exception in the R1 zone such as golf courses, stores and restaurants. 336 
 337 
Michael Smith of 32 Pulpit Rock Road asked if the special exception had a direct relationship to 338 
the building design. 339 
 340 
Mr. Hadik indicated he was the Town’s Planning Board Coordinator and was asked to be here by 341 
Ms. Hoijer and Chair Sullivan and Mr. Snyder of the Planning Board.  Mr. Hadik noted a different 342 
person could have put in a multi-family.  The proposal being discussed tonight would generate far 343 
less noise and traffic.  Mr. Hadik noted he has been actively engaging with Southern NH Planning 344 
Commission who has worked with Towns statewide in an initiative to make Towns more age 345 
friendly.  Chester has no assisted living facilities or nursing homes.  Chester has no place for its 346 
elderly to go.  The Planning Board began drafting the ordinance weeks before the applicant came 347 
in last year seeking a variance.  The Planning Board will be charged with going over parking, 348 
lighting and septic, wells and architectural design.  If the facility is not built according to those 349 
plans as they are approved by the Planning Board the Building Inspector would issue a Cease 350 
and Desist. 351 
 352 
Mr. Hadik noted Fox Den which is the closest facility has 32 residents with 12 2-room suites.  The 353 
entire facility fits on two acres but is on a six-acre lot in the middle of a residential neighborhood.  354 
Visitors come on holidays an average of 8 or 9 vehicles with 2-4 vehicles per day for staff or 355 
visitors during the week. 356 
 357 
Chair Maloney closed the hearing to the public for deliberations at 8:38 PM. 358 
 359 
Mr. Snyder indicated the application was straight forward and all the general conditions were met.  360 
Mr. Snyder noted he was delighted the plans changed and did not require any variances. 361 
 362 
Vice-Chair Scott agreed with Mr. Snyder.  The questions were answered one by one and all 363 
correct to the Board’s satisfaction.  Vice-Chair Scott opined he did like the original shared 364 
driveway concept which is safer.  Cars do zoom up that hill. 365 
 366 
Mr. Cannon noted he had two problems.  He felt it was detrimental to the character of the 367 
neighborhood, a 10,000 SF facility is a significant variation.  Secondly, he believes there will be 368 
increased demand to fire services. 369 
 370 
Mr. Snyder recommended considering the alternatives, a multi-family development would also 371 
increase demand to those services and the schools as well. 372 
 373 
Vice-Chair Scott disagreed services would be increased.  Mr. Scott visits his Aunt daily at the 374 
Windham facility where she resides and has only ever witnessed two ambulance calls and not 375 
too many wild parties. 376 
 377 
Chair Maloney indicated it has met all the conditions of Article 5.3.3.10 and 11.4.1.  The Town 378 
passed the ordinance to allow assisted living facilities in R1 under special exception and the 10 379 
acres and setbacks and all requirements have been met.  Legally, if the criteria are met, it must 380 
be granted. 381 
 382 



Page 9 of 12 
 

Mr. Snyder noted he lived nearby and has horses and loves the property, but “we can’t force it to 383 
stay as it is”.  “It is not in our prevue.”  “We don’t own it.” 384 
 385 
Chair Maloney agreed and asked “would I want this near me?”  “If buffered and setbacks were 386 
met it would be okay.”  Mr. Snyder noted he would be ok with that and the Town needs these sort 387 
of things. 388 
 389 
Ms. Hoijer indicated no correspondence was received in support or opposition to the applications. 390 
 391 
Chair Maloney indicated the Planning Board will conduct Site Plan Review. 392 
 393 
Mr. Snyder motioned to grant the Special Exception under Article 5.3.3.10 for an Assisted 394 
Living Facility on the lot to be created known as Map 002 Lot 070-001 with the condition of 395 
Site Plan Review with the Planning Board.  Vice-Chair Scott seconded the motion.  A vote 396 
was taken.  Chair Maloney – aye, Vice-Chair Scott – aye, Mr. Snyder – aye, Mr. Cannon – 397 
opposed.  Approved 3-1-0. 398 
 399 
Chair Maloney took a brief recess at 8:48 PM. 400 
 401 
Vice-Chair Scott read out loud the 30-day notice of appeal. 402 
 403 
5.  The request of Alisha Eckman 404 
For a Variance 405 
From Article 5, Section 5.3.4 prohibited uses in the R-1 zone 406 
To permit the operation of art classes and such other adult education as the Board may deem 407 
appropriate at Nutting Hall 408 
 409 
On the property known as Map 005-014-000, 66 Chester Street in the R1 Zone 410 
 411 
Vice-Chair Scott read out loud the Public Hearing Notice. 412 
 413 
Bill Rohr the facilities manager of Busche Academy went over the history of the property known 414 
as Nutting Hall and the operation of an electronics manufacturing business by Mr. Cassista before 415 
Busche Academy bought the property back.  Busche Academy will be renting the space to Ms. 416 
Eckman for art classes.  Ms. Eckman has been to the Planning Board for Site Plan Review and 417 
the hours of operation were granted from 7 AM to 10 PM seven days per week. 418 
 419 
The capacity of students is self-limiting due to the posting of the fire code at 25 students under 420 
the current building size.  Mr. Snyder indicated the application added and such other relief as the 421 
Board deemed necessary.  Mr. Rohr indicated he spoke with the Building Inspector and the adult 422 
art classes would be covered were Busche to offer them under the approvals they have now, but 423 
a variance is needed when renting to someone who is operating them.  Chair Maloney read out 424 
loud the proposed conditions of approval. 425 
 426 
Mary Ford asked to re-read the conditions facing her as she had difficulty hearing.  Chair Maloney 427 
re-read and explained the conditions including the hours of operation. Ms. Eckman noted she 428 
would not be conducting classes all day and night, she needed flexibility and time to prepare and 429 
clean up.  The Planning Board recommended she not restrict herself too narrowly.  Ms. Eckman 430 
indicated the resin she is using is non-toxic and she has a certificate from Clean Harbors.  Mr. 431 
Rohr is the waste disposal manager at the facility and understands the disposal concerns.  432 
Nothing would be dumped down the toilet or drains.  Ms. Eckman noted when the resin is mixed 433 



Page 10 of 12 
 

it loses its properties and becomes plastic and goes into panels and trays to be re-used whenever 434 
possible and is properly disposed of.  Ms. Eckman displayed some samples of her work. 435 
 436 
Oliver Ford indicated he remembers when the facility had pottery wheels and kilns. 437 
 438 
Chair Maloney closed the hearing to the public for deliberations at 9:11 PM. 439 
 440 
Mr. Gregsak indicated he had nothing to add. 441 
 442 
Mr. Cannon noted he was supportive. 443 
 444 
Vice-Chair Scott agreed. 445 
 446 
Chair Maloney motioned to grant the variance from Article 5.3.4 to permit the operation of 447 
adult art education classes with the conditions listed below.  Mr. Snyder seconded the 448 
motion.  A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed unanimously. 449 
 450 
Conditions: 451 
 452 
1.  Consistent with the Planning Board hours of operation 7 AM to 10 PM seven days per 453 
week. 454 
 455 
2.  Attendance cannot exceed on-site parking capacity. 456 
 457 
3.  Course activities shall not involve the use of hazardous, toxic or other materials or 458 
substances which may pose an unreasonable risk of harm or injury to persons or property. 459 
 460 
4. Subject to any and all federal, state and local approvals, permits, licenses or permission 461 
required for course activities.  Copies shall be provided to the Town’s code enforcement 462 
officer prior to the start of the course. 463 
 464 
5.  A list of courses conducted pursuant to this approval shall be filed with the ZBA 465 
Administrator and updated promptly by the applicant. 466 
 467 
6.  The request of Elizabeth B. Blanchard a/k/a Buchanan & Eugene L. Blanchard 468 
For a Variance from Article 5, Section 5.7, Subsection 5.7.8 Table 2 of the Ordinance 469 
to create a driveway less than 75’ setback from the edge of wetlands 470 
 471 
On the property known as Map 002-063-001, 43 Hart Roberts Road in the R1 Zone 472 
 473 
Vice-Chair Scott read out loud the Public Hearing Notice. 474 
 475 
Vice-Chair Scott asked if the proposed riding arena would be enclosed eventually?  Mr. Blanchard 476 
indicated within the next year or two.  The variance would allow a driveway to be constructed 477 
around the arena 47’ from the wetlands where 75’ are required.  Vice-Chair Scott indicated he 478 
visited the site and there was really no other place to put it that would have the least impact.  Mrs. 479 
Blanchard indicated the need to be able to turn the horse trailer safely.  Vice-Chair Scott indicated 480 
there are only two homes out there.  Mr. Snyder agreed and noted the neighbor wrote a letter of 481 
support. 482 
 483 



Page 11 of 12 
 

Ms. Hoijer noted Conservation reviewed the plan at its last meeting and will make a 484 
recommendation before it goes to Planning for Site Plan Review concerning the proposed 485 
infiltration basin.  The fencing within the wetland will be removed. 486 
 487 
Vice-Chair Scott indicated it satisfied all five criteria.  There is a lot of ledge. 488 
 489 
Mrs. Blanchard indicated the arena was for her own use and her friends and there would be no 490 
plumbing. 491 
 492 
Mr. Gregsak indicated he feels there is a hardship in this location.  Moving in any direction would 493 
increase the grade 4-6.’ 494 
 495 
Mr. Cannon noted he was supportive with no objections. 496 
 497 
Vice-Chair Scott indicated it was not contrary and in the spirit of the ordinance to protect the 498 
wetlands and does substantial justice.  It would not decrease the value of surrounding property. 499 
The ledge and grade are a hardship.  This would be the best sport for it.  In favor on all five points. 500 
 501 
Vice-Chair Scott motioned to grant a variance under Article 5.7.8 (Table 2) to permit the 502 
riding arena driveway to be within 47’ of wetland where 75’ are required with the condition 503 
that the western side of the driveway and Hart Roberts Road not be permitted.  Subject to 504 
Site Plan Review.  Mr. Snyder seconded the motion.  A vote was taken, all were in favor, 505 
the motion passed unanimously. 506 
 507 

7.  Other Business 508 

Chair Maloney will contact the Selectmen’s Office to get on the agenda concerning property tax 509 
cards which are residential but are depicting a commercial zone possibly because they have a 510 
variance to operate a business there.  A variance or Special Exception does not change the 511 
zoning of a property from a residential to a commercial zone and the Board agreed this was 512 
misleading and needs correction. 513 

  514 



Page 12 of 12 
 

8.  Adjournment 515 

 516 
Vice-Chair Scott motioned to adjourn the meeting at 9:43 PM.  Mr. Cannon seconded the 517 
motion, with all in favor, so moved. 518 

Respectfully submitted, 519 

 520 

 521 

Nancy J. Hoijer, 522 
Recording Secretary 523 


